



Systemic Cancer Treatment in Pregnancy

Recommendations from the society for diagnosis and therapy of haematological and oncological diseases









Publisher

DGHO Deutsche Gesellschaft für Hämatologie und Medizinische Onkologie e.V. Bauhofstr. 12 D-10117 Berlin

Executive chairman: Prof. Dr. med. Andreas Hochhaus

Phone: +49 (0)30 27 87 60 89 - 0

info@dgho.de www.dgho.de

Contact person

Prof. Dr. med. Bernhard Wörmann Medical superintendent

Source

www.onkopedia-guidelines.info

The information of the DGHO Onkopedia Web Site is not intended or implied to be a substitute for professional medical advice or medical care. The advice of a medical professional should always be sought prior to commencing any form of medical treatment. To this end, all component information contained within the web site is done so for solely educational purposes. DGHO Deutsche Gesellschaft für Hämatologie und Onkologie and all of its staff, agents and members disclaim any and all warranties and representations with regards to the information contained on the DGHO Web Site. This includes any implied warranties and conditions that may be derived from the aforementioned web site information.

Table of contents

1	Summary	. 2						
2	Basics: epidemiology, pharmacological aspects	. 2						
2.1	Incidence rates	2						
2.2	Tumor entities and stages at diagnosis	3						
2.3	Treatment modalities	3						
2.4	Pharmacological particularities	4						
2.4.1	olume of distribution, metabolization, excretion							
2.4.2	Placental transfer and penetration into fetal circulation	4						
2.4.3	Dose adjustment of antineoplastic agents in pregnant women	5						
6	Therapy	. 5						
6.1	Tumor entities	5						
6.1.1	Acute leukemia	5						
5.1.1.1	Acute myeloid leukemia (except acute promyelocytic leukemia)	6						
5.1.1.2	Acute promyelocytic leukemia (AML M3/M3v)	6						
5.1.1.3	Acute lymphoblastic leukemia	7						
6.1.2	Chronic myeloid leukemia							
6.1.3	3 Gliomas 7							
6.1.4	Colorectal cancer	8						
	Lung Cancer							
6.1.6	Malignant lymphomas	8						
	Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma							
5.1.6.2	Hodgkin's Lymphoma							
	Breast Cancer							
6.1.8	Melanoma							
	Malignant ovarian tumors 1							
	Sarcomas							
6.1.11	.11 Cervical Cancer							
6.1.12								
	5.1.11 Cervical Cancer							
	Neonatal outcomes in patients and newborns							
	Register							
9	Literature / References	13						
15	Authors' Affiliations	18						
16	Disclosure of Potential Conflicts of Interest	19						

Systemic Cancer Treatment in Pregnancy

Date of document: July 2022

Compliance rules:

• Guideline

Conflict of interests

Authors: Georg Maschmeyer, Ralf Dittrich, Tanja Fehm, Inken Hilgendorf, Sibylle Loibl

1 Summary

- The stage of pregnancy and close cooperation in a multidisciplinary team are essential for the therapeutic procedure. The risk-benefit analysis is particularly important for pregnant tumor patients.
- In the first trimester, an increased rate of subsequent malformations and miscarriages is to be expected as a consequence of systemic tumor therapy, so that systemic tumor therapy is not recommended.
- After systemic cancer treatment during the second trimester, a slightly increased rate of miscarriage, growth retardation, mental and physical underdevelopment has been documented. Systemic tumor therapy is possible here if indicated.
- With systemic tumor therapy in the third trimester, a largely comparable outcome with a normal course of pregnancy and development can be expected; if a premature birth should occur here, the corresponding problems arise as in pregnancies without malignant disease.
- Systemically administered tumor therapeutics are dosed according to standard.
- Some substances such as tyrosine kinase inhibitors, (V)EGF antibodies, anti-hormonal substances or immune checkpoint inhibitors are contraindicated throughout the course of pregnancy. This is outlined in the respective special sections of this guideline.
- The substances used for supportive therapy can also be used in the 2nd and 3rd trimesters without any expected late effects on the newborns.
- If possible, an interval of 3 weeks between end of chemotherapy and delivery is recommended if chemotherapy causes severe myelosuppression.
- The goal is normal delivery; early induction of labor and section delivery (except for patients with cervical cancer) are discouraged.
- As a rule, normal development and late development of the children can be expected if the treatment recommendations are followed.
- Patient data should be entered into established registries.

2 Basics: epidemiology, pharmacological aspects

2.1 Incidence rates

According to currently available registry data, particularly from the International Network on Cancer, Infertility and Pregnancy (INCIP), 1-2 cases of cancer occur per 1,000 pregnancies [16, 26]. A report from Denmark includes 2426 cases from 1977-2006, with a significant increase from 1977-1986 to 1997-2006 [31]. A report from Norway includes 516 cases of pregnancy among 42,511 women with cancer from 1967-2002. Again, an increase in annual inci-

dence was described [72]. Australian registry data of 1798 cases from 1994-2007 describe an increase in annual incidence from 1.12 to 1.91 per 1,000 pregnancies [48]. The increase in the number of cases is associated with the increasing mean age of pregnant women.

2.2 Tumor entities and stages at diagnosis

Reports from 2012-2018 are available from the International Network on Cancer, Infertility and Pregnancy (INCIP), which present the epidemiology of initial diagnoses of malignancies in pregnant women [6, 16, 27, 72].

The type of malignancies with initial diagnosis in pregnancy in 1170 women from 1996-2016 was reported as follows, see Table 1:

Table 1: Relative frequency of initial diagnoses of malignancies in pregnancy [27].

Malignant disease	Relative frequency (%)		
Breast Cancer	39		
Cervical Cancer	13		
Lymphomas	10		
Ovarian Cancer	6		
Leukemias	6		
Melanoma	4		
Gastrointestinal tumors	4		
Thyroid cancer	3		
Brain tumors	2		
Other	12		

These malignancies were also broken down by stage of disease at initial diagnosis during pregnancy, see Table 2:

Table 2: Stages of disease at the time of diagnosis in pregnancy [27]:

Stage	ı	II	ш	IV	Unknown
Breast Cancer	15-20%	50%	20%	5-10%	3-5%
Cervical Cancer	80%	10%	3%	4%	3%
Lymphoma	15%	50%	10%	10-12%	3-4%
Ovarian Cancer	75%	5%	7%	3%	10%
Gastrointestinal tumor	3%	17%	20-25%	55%	2%
Melanoma	45%	10-15%	20-25%	5%	3%
Thyroid Cancer	90-95%	3%	5%	-	-
Other	25-30%	5-6%	10-15%	30-35%	15%

2.3 Treatment modalities

An overview of the type of cancer care provided to 1170 pregnant women is provided in the 2018 INCIP work, see Table 3.

Table 3: Treatment modalities in 1170 pregnant women with malignancies [27].

	n	No treat- ment	Surgery	Chemo- therapy	Radio-ther- apy	Targeted or anti-hormonal therapy	Other
Breast Cancer	462	116 (25%)	225 (49%)	248 (54%)	12 (3%)	7 (2%)	-
Cervical Cancer	147	83 (56%)	32 (22%)	66 (58%)	2 (1%)	-	-
Lymphoma	113	41 (36%)	8 (7%)	66 (58%)	4 (4%)	18 (16%)	-
Ovarian Cancer	88	23 (26%)	64 (73%)	21 (24%)	-	-	-
Leukemia	68	22 (32%)	-	23 (34%)	1 (1%)	7 (10%)	15 (22%)
Gastrointestinal tumor	49	19 (39%)	21 (43%)	16 (33%)	-	-	-
Melanoma	46	12 (26%)	33 (72%)	-	2 (4%)	-	-
Thyroid cancer	37	7 (19%)	30 (81%)	-	1 (3%)	-	-
Brain tumors	21	11 (52%)	10 (48%)	1 (5%)	1 (5%)	-	-
Other	139	57 (41%)	31 (22%)	17 (12%)	6 (4%)	1 (1%)	37 (27%)
Total	1170	391 (33%)	454 (39%)	429 (37%)	29 (2%)	33 (3%)	51 (4%)

2.4 Pharmacological particularities

Pharmacological data on the specifics of tumor therapy in pregnant women are scarce. All current approvals of chemotherapeutic agents, immunotherapeutic agents, and molecularly targeted agents for antineoplastic therapy exclude their use in pregnant women, so that there are no systematic studies on this topic. For a review, see [20].

2.4.1 Volume of distribution, metabolization, excretion

During the 6th to 34th week of pregnancy, a volume expansion of 3-4 liters evolves. Plasma volume increases by 1200 ml, total erythrocyte volume by 300 ml, and the placenta and fetal circulation require an additional 2000 ml or more. The dilution effect decreases the blood albumin concentration [33]. Another consequence is increased renal clearance [51]. Activation of relevant enzymes of the cytochrome p450 system (CYP 3A4, CYP 2C9, CYP 2A6) and uridine diphosphate glucuronosyltransferase (UGT) results in more rapid hepatic metabolism, for example of taxanes and anthracyclines [15].

2.4.2 Placental transfer and penetration into fetal circulation

Most chemotherapeutic agents are penetrating the placental barrier. This has been demonstrated for doxorubicin, daunorubicin, epirubicin, cyclophosphamide, paclitaxel (only minimally), 5-FU, capecitabine, oxaliplatin, irinotecan/SN38 (metabolite), vinblastine, cisplatin, carboplatin, and cytarabine [14, 60, 69]. Penetration into the fetal circulation must be distinguished from placental transfer. From sparse study results in humans and some data collected in monkeys, rabbits, rats, and mice, the following data can be derived (Table 4):

Table 4: Transfer of systemic anticancer agents into fetal circulation [1, 60].

Substance class	Active ingredient	Concentration in fetal compared to maternal circulation (%).
Anthracyclines	Doxorubicin	1.
	Epirubicin	1.
Taxanes	Docetaxel	0
	Paclitaxel	1.
Alkylating agents	Cyclophosphamide	1.
Antimetabolites	Cytarabine	1.
	5-fluorouracil	1.
Vinca alkaloids	Vinblastine	1.
Platinum derivatives	Cisplatin	31-65
	Carboplatin	1.
Monoclonal antibodies	Trastuzumab	85
	Pertuzumab	30-40
	Bevacizumab	2-9
	Rituximab	150-328
Tyrosine kinase inhibitors	Gefitinib	20
	Erlotinib	25
	Imatinib	31
	Nilotinib	32

2.4.3 Dose adjustment of antineoplastic agents in pregnant women

Despite the relevant pharmacological and pharmacokinetic peculiarities in pregnant women, no fundamental changes in dosages are recommended for systemic anticancer agents compared with use in non-pregnant women. Chemotherapy dosing is based on current body weight, and the Area Under the Curve (AUC) for carboplatin dosing is unchanged from non-pregnant patients [16].

6 Therapy

6.1 Tumor entities

6.1.1 Acute leukemia

General symptoms such as fatigue and shortness of breath as well as blood count changes, e.g., mild anemia or thrombocytopenia, can occur both pregnancy-associated and in the early phase of acute leukemia. This carries the risk of delayed diagnosis and therefore requires special clinical attention, especially since any delay in induction chemotherapy is associated with a reduction in the rate of complete remissions [78].

6.1.1.1 Acute myeloid leukemia (except acute promyelocytic leukemia).

AML accounts for two-thirds of acute leukemias during pregnancy [78]. In addition to some reports from single centers, each with small numbers of patients, two literature reviews are available that compiled data on AML in pregnant women from 1955-2013 [44] and 1969-2014 [23], respectively.

In 138 cases from 1955-2013, a standard combination of anthracycline and cytarabine was generally used for therapy (58%). The rate of complete remissions was reported to be 91%. Long-term maternal survival was 30%, with a low rate of risk-adapted consolidation therapies and allogeneic stem cell transplantation noted in affected patients. The rate of live births was 87%, with complications documented in 16%. Standard AML therapy during pregnancy was found to be safe and effective, and early referral of patients with high-risk AML for allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation was recommended [44].

In 85 cases of AML in pregnant women from 1969-2014, outcomes were broken down by chemotherapy initiation in the 1st trimester (n = 8), 2nd trimester (n = 61), or 3rd trimester (n = 14). CR rates were 100%, 81%, and 67% in the 1st, 2nd, and 3rd trimesters, respectively. Fetal death and spontaneous abortion occurred in 37.5% vs 9.7% vs 0%, respectively. Of note, the rates of malformations or death after cytarabine + daunorubicin were 8.5%/6.4%, vs 28.6%/12.5% after use of cytarabine + idarubicin [23]. In contrast to daunorubicin, idarubicin is more lipophilic, has a longer half-life, better placental transfer, and higher affinity for DNA, so that daunorubicin is considered the anthracycline of choice in pregnancy. [58].

Therapy of AML in pregnancy should be initiated immediately. Since a successful pregnancy outcome seems unlikely in the first trimester, the reasons for or against termination of pregnancy should be discussed with the patient [4]. From the 2nd trimester, standard therapy with daunorubicin and cytarabine is recommended [4]. If the AML diagnosis was made from the 32nd week of pregnancy, delivery should be attempted prior to initiation of therapy, both to avoid the risk of chemotherapy-induced pancytopenia associated with higher risk of infection and bleeding during the delivery period [4] and to minimize exposure of the fetus to chemotherapeutic agents.

6.1.1.2 Acute promyelocytic leukemia (AML M3/M3v)

In APL diagnosed during pregnancy, there is a chance of cure for the patient. ATRA and ATO have a high teratogenic potential. Options in the first trimester are termination of pregnancy (cave bleeding complications) or mono-chemotherapy with daunorubicin. After abortion, standard therapy with ATRA plus chemotherapy can be started immediately.

In the second and third trimesters, there are no contraindications to combined treatment with ATRA and anthracyclines. A summary of published cases in total AML patients shows no increased maternal risk and no increased risk of malformations in the child. However, there is an increased rate of miscarriage, premature birth, and low birth weight neonates. Because these complications are associated with chemotherapy, in low- or intermediate-risk pregnant women with APL, the time to post-partum can be bridged by monotherapy with ATRA. In patients in the high-risk group, combination therapy of ATRA and anthracyclines (preferably daunorubicin) is indicated despite the associated risks [63]. The current guideline of the European LeukemiaNet [71] supports these recommendations.

A systematic literature review [70] of pregnant women with APL showed a complete remission rate of 89% for 92 patients receiving remission induction therapy with ATRA (32%) or ATRA + chemotherapy (43%). Respiratory distress syndrome was present in 12 of 16 neonates with neonatal complications. Therefore, the ELN guideline [71] recommends prophylactic adminis-

tration of glucocorticoids, preferably prednisolone or methylprednisolone, in births before 36 weeks of gestation.

6.1.1.3 Acute lymphoblastic leukemia

Due to the less frequent occurrence of ALL compared to AML, therapeutic experience during pregnancy is limited. The application of methotrexate, usually a component of ALL therapy, is contraindicated due to the high risk of aminopterin syndrome [45, 58]. A prospective study showed a more frequent occurrence of T-ALL in pregnant women compared to a control group of non-pregnant ALL patients (53.3% vs. 26.6%, p=0.034) and also initially higher leukocyte levels (38.0 vs. 9.6 x 10^9 /l, p=0.01) [76]. This study reports a total of 15 pregnant patients and with 12 live births without subsequent impairment of fetal development. Three patients underwent termination of pregnancy in the first trimester and three other patients underwent induction of labor after application of pre-phase in the last trimester, and induction therapy was started 3-4 days later. In addition, nine patients received pre-phase and induction therapy, five additionally received induction II, and one patient also received two consolidations. In this study, pregnancy had no effect on overall survival and recurrence rate [76].

6.1.2 Chronic myeloid leukemia

CML accounts for 10% of leukemias in pregnancy. During pregnancy, the use of tyrosine kinase inhibitors is contraindicated due to the teratogenic risk and an incidence of more than 10% serious adverse events [1]. For male patients of childbearing potential, the possibility of sperm cryopreservation should be discussed at the time of initial diagnosis [64]. For CML patients of childbearing potential, individualized measures are needed to allow for the possibility of remission maintenance during pregnancy without the use of TKIs. Interruption of therapy is only recommended in cases of stable molecular remission with a BCR-ABL1 transcript level < 0.01%. In cases with a BCR-ABL1 transcript level of 0.01-0.1%, therapy should initially be intensified to achieve a level below this threshold. Thus, in patients on imatinib therapy seeking pregnancy during a treatment break with stable molecular remission, a switch to a second-generation TKI should be considered to allow deeper and longer-lasting molecular remission [43]. If stable for 3-6 months, remission maintenance over a 9-month gestation is likely. If molecular remission is lost during the break in therapy in a pregnant woman, the time to delivery should be bridged without TKI resumption, if necessary with interferon-alpha. The use of PEG-IFN is controversial and should be avoided because of the accumulation of polyethylene glycol in pregnancy. If necessary, bridging cytoreduction with leukapheresis is possible in individual cases of significant leukocytosis. Since relatively low placental permeability has been demonstrated for imatinib and nilotinib, the use of these substances after the 16th week of pregnancy may be considered in selected individual cases under very strict indication and risk-benefit analysis [1]. Dasatinib should generally not be used in pregnancy due to placental permeability and the high teratogenic risk. The use of bosutinib and newer TKIs is also contraindicated. Current data on the outcome of TKI exposure during pregnancy have been compiled [22].

6.1.3 Gliomas

Few reports of pregnant women with primary brain tumors or brain metastases exist in the literature. Reliable epidemiological data are lacking. Among 27 documented cases in the INCIP registry, 13 were diagnosed in the 2nd trimester and 12 in the 3rd trimester. Therapeutic interventions included neurosurgery (n = 8), radiation (n = 7), and chemotherapy (n = 3). All 21 children born were described as healthy with no apparent damage, even at follow-up of up to 25 years [74]. Case series from single centers [76] as well as a systematic literature review [73] indicate that pregnancy may cause a less favorable clinical course of gliomas, but without

a significant impact on prognosis [73]. Evidence-based guidelines on clinical procedures for pregnant women with primary brain tumors or brain metastases are not available.

For pregnant women in the second and third trimesters, the current data suggest that the same standard protocols should be used as for nonpregnant women.

6.1.4 Colorectal cancer

According to the age distribution of patients with colorectal cancer, only few well-documented cases are available in the literature. A 2017 literature search revealed 119 case reports (53% colon, 44% rectal, 3% multiple) with 2nd and 3rd trimester manifestations of 88%. Among 82 patients whose therapy was described, approximately 10% received chemotherapy during pregnancy [67]. Forty-one well-documented cases, including 27 colon and 14 rectal cancers, were published from the INCIP registry [47]. Advanced stages were found in 73% of patients. Surgical intervention was performed in 51% and chemotherapy in 29% of pregnant women. Delivery of healthy infants was achieved in 33 of the 41 patients (80.5%), with section delivery in 21 cases. According to these registry data and a single-center report [40], no significant difference was found in the prognosis of pregnant patients with colorectal cancer compared with nonpregnant women.

No robust data are available on the selection of antineoplastic agents or therapy protocols suitable for drug therapy of pregnant women with colorectal carcinoma. Fluoropyrimidines such as 5-FU and capecitabine as well as irinotecan and oxaliplatin, predominantly administered in the standard FOLFOX and FOLFIRI protocols, seem to be applicable in the second and third trimesters without specific toxicities being found in the newborns [69]. EGFR antibodies such as cetuximab and panitumumab as well as agents directed against VEGF(R) such as bevacizumab, aflibercept, or ramucirumab are contraindicated, as are multikinase inhibitors that also target VEGFR (e.g., regorafenib).

6.1.5 Lung Cancer

The largest collection of all cases of non-small cell lung carcinoma in pregnant women documented in the literature and in a single institution published to date includes 77 patients [75]. It is estimated that 85% of all lung carcinomas in pregnant women are non-small-cell lung cancers [59]. Only 9 cases of lung carcinoma were reported from the INCIP registry in 2013, all of which were diagnosed at advanced stages [18]. The risk of metastasis to the placenta or fetus has been reported to be as high as 26% of 44 cases evaluated [12].

Evidence-based treatment recommendations for pregnant women with lung cancer are not available. Curative intended primary resections are not very promising in view of the usually advanced disease stages. Chemotherapy using carboplatin and paclitaxel is justified from the beginning of the 2nd trimester, see Chapter 6.1.6.1. Since an above-average rate of molecular aberrations such as ALK rearrangements and activating EGFR mutations is to be expected in pregnant women with NSCLC [25], the use of molecularly targeted tumor therapies seems obvious. For this, as well as for therapy with immune checkpoint inhibitors, individual case reports are available [17], from which the justification for individual therapy decisions can be derived. Reliable study data are not available.

6.1.6 Malignant lymphomas

Malignant lymphoma represents the fourth most common cancer diagnosis in pregnancy. Hodgkin and non-Hodgkin lymphomas (NHL) account for 5% and 6%, respectively, of all pregnancy-related cancers [30].

6.1.6.1 Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma

The most comprehensive data on NHL in pregnant women to date were published from the INCIP registry in 2021 [56]. Of a total of 80 patients, 57 had diffuse large cell lymphoma. One patient had her pregnancy terminated, and 46 women received systemic lymphoma therapy (usually R-CHOP). All 46 patients with as well as all 10 patients without systemic lymphoma therapy during pregnancy had a live birth. One of the newborn children in utero exposed to chemotherapy was found to have a malformation. Also, among the 23 women with other NHL, 20 of whom carried their pregnancy to term, 19 had a live birth. The treatment outcome, followed up for more than 10 years, in patients with NHL who received systemic lymphoma therapy during their pregnancy was comparable to that of nonpregnant patients. As a conclusion, it is recommended that pregnant women with NHL should generally be treated in the same manner as nonpregnant women [56]. This was also published as a recommendation in a consensus guideline [52].

As a special feature, it was pointed out that due to a low placental receptivity and a pronounced placental metabolization, prednisolone and methyprednisolone should be given preference over the other glucorticoids in case glucocorticoid therapy is needed.

A review on the use of new substances in lymphoma therapy [54] shows that only for the application of rituximab in the 2nd and 3rd trimester data are available that may justify its use. Close blood count monitoring in the newborn should be considered after therapy with rituximab until 6 months of age. The Onkopedia guideline on diffuse large cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (DLBCL), updated in 2022, includes specific recommendations for the therapy of pregnant patients with DLBCL [65]:

- In case of occurrence of aggressive lymphoma in the first trimester, termination of pregnancy is recommended, since chemotherapy administered in the phase of organogenesis carries a high risk of malformations. In the second and third trimesters, the risk is low.
- The R-CHOP protocol is suitable as a standard therapy regimen. Antimetabolites (e.g., MTX) are contraindicated because of the risk of fetal CNS damage.
- If the lymphoma occurs in late pregnancy and is not very aggressive, treatment can be postponed until after delivery.

6.1.6.2 Hodgkin's Lymphoma

In 24 patients with Hodgkin lymphoma treated with systemic chemotherapy during pregnancy (usually ABVD), pregnancy outcome was documented in 20 cases. Here, 2 premature births were found. However, 2 of 11 patients who did not receive lymphoma treatment during pregnancy also had a preterm birth [34].

While the use of ABVD for the therapy of Hodgkin lymphoma in the first trimester is controversial, its use in the 2nd and 3rd trimesters can be considered an appropriate and safe therapeutic option [36]. Accordingly, ABVD is the most commonly used regimen for Hodgkin therapy during pregnancy [30]. Only one case report is available on the use of nivolumab during pregnancy in the relapse situation of refractory Hodgkin's disease with subsequent engraftment syndrome. The concentration of nivolumab in the mother's blood was higher than in the cord blood and could not be detected in the placenta [35]. The use of brentuximab vedotin is contraindicated during pregnancy.

6.1.7 Breast Cancer

Breast cancer accounts for 39% of all malignancies in pregnant women, see Chapter 2.2. Accordingly, the literature available is extensive, providing detailed data on diagnosis and treatment, specified for surgical, radiotherapeutic, chemotherapeutic, endocrine and immunotherapeutic treatment procedures, compared to other cancers in pregnant women.

A comparison of the prognosis of pregnant (n = 662) vs. non-pregnant (n = 2081) patients with breast cancer has been published from the INCIP registry, showing no significant differences in disease-free (78% vs. 85%) and overall survival (90% vs. 94%) at 3 years [8]. These registry data also suggest that surgical interventions, chemotherapies, and local radiation were administered in almost comparable proportions. Both endocrine and HER2-targeted therapies are not recommended in pregnancy based on current knowledge [10, 61].

While surgical procedures are also permitted in the 1st trimester, although possibly associated with a higher risk of miscarriage, (only technetium is recommended for sentinel node diagnosis, due to allergic reactions described), systemic chemotherapy may only be administered from the 2nd trimester (from week 13) [38, 42]. Anthracyclines (doxorubicin and epirubicin, in combination with cyclophosphamide) and taxanes (paclitaxel and docetaxel, but not nab-paclitaxel) are indicated as for other chemotherapies in pregnancy (see above), as in nonpregnant women. Carboplatin is recommended as a case-by-case decision according to the current AGO recommendation [2]. Thus, from the 2nd trimester, standard regimens such as AC/EC followed by paclitaxel, or the additional use of carboplatin in triple-negative carcinomas, are available in the same way as in non-pregnant patients. Dose-dense administration of AC/EC (q2w) followed by weekly paclitaxel is also possible when indicated under the appropriate supportive measures [53]. 5-fluorouracil or methotrexate should not be used in pregnant women.

Endocrine therapies (tamoxifen, fulvestrant, or aromatase inhibitors) should not be administered to pregnant women.

Molecularly targeted therapies such as PARP inhibitors, CDK4-/6 inhibitors, lapatinib, neratinib, tucatinib, Pl3kinase inhibitors or mTOR inhibitors are contraindicated in pregnant women, as are monoclonal antibodies (e.g. bevacizumab, trastuzumab, pertuzumab, PD1/PD-L1 inhibitors or sacituzumab govitecan). The same applies to rarely used substances such as capecitabine, eribulin or vinorelbine, for which no reliable data on their use in pregnant women are available.

6.1.8 Melanoma

Melanoma is relatively common in pregnant women worldwide. For example, the incidence in Australia (New South Wales) was 52 cases per 100,000 pregnancies in 2008 [13], but is far lower, in line with the epidemiology of malignant melanoma, in other regions of the world, for example 3-5/100,000 pregnancies in Europe [68]. From the INCIP registry, there is a report of 60 documented cases, including 14 in stage III, 16 in stage IV (27% in recurrence) [28]. Therapeutically, mainly locoregional surgery and in single cases local radiotherapy were used, while systemic therapeutics such as BRAF/MEK-targeted tyrosine kinase inhibitors or immune checkpoint inhibitors should usually be avoided due to their incalculable risks for the fetuses despite single case reports on favorable outcome [9].

Localized melanomas do not have a significantly different prognosis in pregnant women, as shown by case-control studies with up to 185 documented patients [49]. The surgical literature contains specific recommendations on the practical surgical approach in pregnant women with melanoma [24].

As a special feature of melanoma, it is recommended to carefully search for placental metastases after delivery, which have been described as well as fetal metastasis [3, 46].

6.1.9 Malignant ovarian tumors

The incidence of malignant ovarian tumors in pregnant women is reported to be in the order of 0.2-3.8 per 100,000 pregnancies [5]. Of the unclear adnexal tumors occurring in 0.2-2% of all pregnancies, 1-6% represent malignant neoplasia [37].

Standard chemotherapeutic treatment with carboplatin and paclitaxel has been shown to be safe in pregnant women in the second and third trimesters [21, 77]. Since VEGF (vascular endothelial growth factor) is central to embryonic and fetal development and to the regulation of amniotic fluid, the use of the VEGF inhibitor bevacizumab is contraindicated.

Radiotherapy of malignant ovarian tumors is obsolete in pregnant women.

INCIP data indicate that treatment outcome is similar to non-pregnant patients and prognosis depends on tumor stage [37].

Currently, the following recommendations result:

Surgical intervention in the early stage of malignant ovarian tumor should preferably be performed from the 16th week of pregnancy. Chemotherapy can be administered from the 2nd trimester using the same regimens as in non-pregnant women. If neoadjuvant chemotherapy is indicated for locally advanced disease, carboplatin and paclitaxel can be used for epithelial ovarian cancer or cisplatin with etoposide and bleomycin for non-epithelial malignancies [5].

6.1.10 Sarcomas

The largest data collection to date includes a retrospective analysis of 13 patients (4 with osteosarcoma and 9 with soft tissue sarcoma) who received anthracyclines and/or ifosfamide for sarcoma therapy [57]. A median of 3 cycles of therapy were administered beginning at a gestational age of 19.5 +/- 4 weeks. Pregnancy complications occurred in 10/13 (76.9%) cases. Fetal growth retardation was described in 6/13 (46.2%) cases. The median gestational age at the time of preterm delivery, which occurred in all cases, was 30.8 +/- 3.8 weeks. The majority (66.7%) of neonates required intensive care. Abortion occurred in 4 patients. These patients had received prior therapy with doxo- and idarubicin beginning at 15.5 gestational weeks, whereas initiation of therapy in all other patients was significantly later (median at 21.3 weeks). The median disease-free survival was 62 months, and three patients with soft tissue sarcoma died of the disease within 4 months of diagnosis.

6.1.11 Cervical Cancer

A cohort study of the INCIP registry analyzed 132 pregnant and 256 non-pregnant women with cervical cancer and well-balanced patient characteristics from 1990-2012 [41]. 14.4% of pregnant women were in stage IA, 47.0% in stage IB1, 18.9% in stage IB2, and 19.7% in stages II-IV. Tumor therapy could be deferred until delivery in 26.5%, 17.4% received primary surgery, 16.7% received neoadjuvant chemotherapy, and 12.9% had early delivery. Progression-free survival did not differ between pregnant and nonpregnant women. A long-term study of 21 pregnant women with cervical cancer from 1985-2000 described a 5-year survival rate of 82%, again with no significant difference from comparable nonpregnant patients [39].

An international consensus conference has developed detailed treatment recommendations in 2019 [5]. For pregnant women with cervical carcinoma in stages IA2-IB3 beyond 22 gestational weeks, in whom therapy cannot be deferred until delivery, neoadjuvant chemotherapy using carboplatin and paclitaxel is recommended.

The AWMF S3 guideline on cervical carcinoma 2022 recommends that treatment of pregnant women with cervical carcinoma should be the same as for non-pregnant women, with neoadjuvant platinum-based chemotherapy recommended from the 2nd trimester [11]. Sectional delivery preferred as the method of choice in all present recommendations. There are no randomized studies regarding maternal outcome depending on the mode of delivery. For microinvasive carcinomas, case-control studies and retrospective analyses show no worsening of prognosis by spontaneous partus. In the S3 guideline, spontaneous parturition is only recommended for microinvasive carcinomas if an R0 resection was previously performed as part of a conization. Spontaneous parturition is not recommended in the presence of microinvasive carcinoma with R1 resection or without conization due to the risk of bleeding and lymphovascular dissemination (S3-LL).

6.1.12 Other solid tumors

No conclusive data on pregnant patients are available for numerous other solid tumor diseases such as head and neck carcinomas, pancreatic carcinomas, neuroendocrine tumors, urothelial carcinomas, renal cell carcinomas or hepatobiliary carcinomas.

A collection of 13 pregnant women with gastric carcinoma published from the INCIP registry [55] does not allow derivation of recommendations for the oncologic care of these patients.

Thyroid carcinomas represent 3% of malignant neoplasms in pregnant women (see above), but they are almost exclusively treated without systemic agents and have no worse prognosis as compared with non-pregnant patients [62].

6.2 Drug for supportive therapy in pregnancy

According to the recommendations of an international consensus conference with INCIP participation [52], both metoclopramide and 5-HT3 antagonists can be safely used for antiemetic therapy in pregnant women receiving chemotherapy. No data are available on aprepitant, and its use in pregnancy is cautioned against (https://www.drugs.com/mtm/aprepitant.html).

For antibiotic therapy in pregnant women under chemotherapy, many common substances are non-critical according to current knowledge, however, aminoglycosides, sulfonamides, trimethoprim, fluoroquinolones, amoxicillin-clavulanic acid and tetracyclines should be avoided [4]. If systemic antifungal therapy is required, preference should be given to amphotericin B preparations.

The use of recombinant G-CSF is not associated with unusual complications in pregnant patients [19].

Low-molecular-weight heparins can be used prophylactically and therapeutically [52].

If glucocorticoid treatment is required, prednisolone and methylprednisolone are preferred, see Chapter 6.1.6.1.

Bisphosphonates should not be used in pregnant women. However, there are data from the literature describing no significant harm to the newborns (after unknowingly using bisphophonates during pregnancy) [29, 50].

6.3 Other non-drug supportive measures

6.3.1 Fertility Protection

In the case of an existing desire to have children, options for fertility preservation in oncological patients should be discussed with the patient in the same way as for the diagnosis of the oncological disease outside the time of pregnancy. In addition to surgical conservative treatment of cervical carcinoma, possibilities include cryopreservation of ovarian tissue, which can be harvested, for example, in the course of a section.

6.4 Neonatal outcomes in patients and newborns.

According to a 2016 meta-analysis, chemotherapy administered in the 2nd or 3rd trimester (after 14 weeks gestation) (according to the premises stated in this guideline) is not associated with significant problems in fetal development, so early termination of pregnancy is not necessary [32]. In a long-term follow-up of the INCIP registry, 129 infants born after maternal chemotherapy during pregnancy were not found to have impaired cognitive, cardiac, or general development compared with a matched control group. It is emphasized that regardless of the presence of cancer or the delivery of cancer treatment, preterm birth shows unfavorable effects, so that a normal delivery should be sought in pregnant cancer patients [7].

7 Register

It is recommended that data on treatment and outcome of malignancies in pregnant women be documented in established registries. For breast carcinoma: BCP Register of the German Breast Group (www.gbg.de), for all other carcinomas: INCIP Register (www.incipregistration.be).

9 Literature / References

- Abruzzese E, Aureli S, Bondanini F, Ciccarone M, Cortis E, Di Paolo A et al. Chronic myeloid leukemia and pregnancy: when dreams meet reality. State of the art, management and outcome of 41 cases, nilotinib placental transfer. J Clin Med 2022;11:1801. DOI:10.3390/jcm11071801
- AGO-Empfehlungen Brustkrebs Spezielle Situationen 2022. https://www.ago-online.de/fileadmin/ago-online/downloads/_leitlinien/kommission_mamma/2022/einzeldateien/ago 2022d 15 brustkrebs spezielle situationen
- 3. Alexander A, Samlowski WE, Grossman D, Bruggers CS, Harris RM, Zone JJ et al. Metastatic melanoma in pregnancy: risk of transplacental metastases in the infant. J Clin Oncol 2003;21:2179–2186. DOI:10.1200/JCO.2003.12.149
- 4. Ali S, Jones GL, Culligan DJ, Marsden PJ, Russell N, Embleton ND et al. Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of acute myeloid leukaemia in pregnancy. Br J Haematol 2015;170:487-495. DOI:10.1111/bjh.13554
- Amant F, Berveiller P, Boere IA, Cardonick E, Fruscio R, Fumagalli M et al. Gynecologic cancers in pregnancy: guidelines based on a third international consensus meeting. Ann Oncol 2019;30:1601-1612. DOI:10.1093/annonc/mdz228
- 6. Amant F, Loibl S, Neven P, Van Calsteren K. Breast cancer in pregnancy. Lancet 2012;379:570-579. DOI:10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61092-1
- 7. Amant F, Vandenbroucke T, Verheecke M, Fumagalli M, Halaska MJ, Boere I et al. pediatric outcome after maternal cancer diagnosed during pregnancy. N Engl J Med 2015;373:1824-1834. DOI:10.1056/NEJMoa1508913

- 8. Amant F, Nekljudova V, Maggen C, Seither F, Neven P, Cardonick EH et al. Outcome of breast cancer patients treated with chemotherapy during pregnancy compared with non-pregnant controls. Eur J Cancer 2022;170:54-63. DOI:10.1016/j.ejca.2022.04.014
- 9. Andrikopoulou A, Korakiti AM, Apostolidou K, Dimopoulos MA, Zagouri F. Immune checkpoint inhibitor administration during pregnancy: a case series. ESMO Open 2021;6:100262. DOI:10.1016/j.esmoop.2021.100262
- 10. AWMF S3-Leitlinie Mammakarzinom 2021. https://www.awmf.org/uploads/tx_szleitlinien/ 032-045oll_s3_mammakarzinom_2021-07
- 11. AWMF-S3-Leitlinie Zervixkarzinom 2021. https://www.leitlinienprogramm-onkologie.de/fileadmin/user_upload/downloads/leitlinien/zervixkarzinom/version_2/ll zervixkarzinom langversion 2.2
- 12. Azim HA Jr, Peccatori FA, Pavlidis N. Lung cancer in the pregnant woman: to treat or not to treat, that is the question. Lung Cancer 2010;67:251-256. DOI:10.1016/j.lungcan.2009.10.006
- 13. Bannister-Tyrrell M, Roberts CL, Hasovits C, Nippita T, Ford JB. Incidence and outcomes of pregnancy-associated melanoma in New South Wales 1994-2008. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol 2015;55:116-122. DOI:10.1111/ajo.12279
- 14. Benoit L, Mir O, Vialard F, Berveiller P. Cancer during pregnancy: a review of preclinical and clinical transplacental transfer of anticancer agents. Cancers 2021;13:1238. DOI:10.3390/cancers13061238
- 15. Berveiller P, Selleret L, Mir O. Drug selection and dosing in pregnant cancer patients: insights from clinical pharmacokinetics. Ann Oncol 2014;25:1869-1870. DOI:10.1093/annonc/mdu376
- 16. Boere I, Lok C, Vandenbroucke T, Amant F. Cancer in pregnancy: safety and efficacy of systemic therapies. Curr Opin Oncol 2017;29:328-334. DOI:10.1097/CCO.000000000000386
- 17. Boudy AS, Grausz N, Selleret L, Gligorov J, Thomassin-Naggara I, Touboul C et al. Use of tyrosine kinase inhibitors during pregnancy for oncogenic-driven advanced non-small cell lung carcinoma. Lung Cancer 2021;161:68-75. DOI:10.1016/j.lungcan.2021.09.001
- 18. Boussios S, Han SN, Fruscio R, Halaska MJ, Ottevanger PB, Peccatori FA et al. Lung cancer in pregnancy: report of nine cases from an international collaborative study. Lung Cancer 2013;82:499-505. DOI:10.1016/j.lungcan.2013.09.002
- 20. Cardonick E, Iacobucci A. Use of chemotherapy during human pregnancy. Lancet Oncol 2004;5:283-291. DOI:10.1016/S1470-2045(04)01466-4
- 21. Cardonick E, Bhat A, Gilmandyar D, Somer R. Maternal and fetal outcomes of taxane chemotherapy in breast and ovarian cancer during pregnancy: case series and review of the literature. Ann Oncol 2012;23:3016-3023. DOI:10.1093/annonc/mds170
- 22. Castillo DR, Park D, Mehta A, Kaur S, Nguyen A, Akhtari M. Outcomes of the pregnancies with chronic myeloid leukemia in the tyrosine kinase inhibitor era and literature review. Hematol Rep 2022;14:45-53. DOI:10.3390/hematolrep14010008
- 23. Chang A, Patel S. Treatment of acute myeloid leukemia during pregnancy. Ann Pharmacother 2015;49:48-68. DOI:10.1177/1060028014552516
- 24. Crisan D, Treiber N, Kull T, Widschwendter P, Adolph O, Schneider LA. Surgical treatment of melanoma in pregnancy: a practical guideline. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges 2016;14:585-593. DOI:10.1111/ddg.12996

- 25. Dagogo-Jack I, Gainor JF, Porter RL, Schultz KR, Solomon BJ, Stevens S et al. Clinicopathologic features of NSCLC diagnosed during pregnancy or the peripartum period in the era of molecular genotyping. J Thorac Oncol 2016;11:1522-1528. DOI:10.1016/j.jtho.2016.05.031
- 26. Dalmartello M, Negri E, La Vecchia C, Scarfone G, Buonomo B, Peccatori FA et al. Frequency of pregnancy-associated cancer: a systematic review of population-based studies. Cancers 2020;12:1356. DOI:10.3390/cancers12061356
- 27. De Haan J, Verheecke M, Van Calsteren K, Van Calster B, Shmakov RG, Mhallem Gziri M et al. Oncological management and obstetric and neonatal outcomes for women diagnosed with cancer during pregnancy: a 20-year international cohort study of 1170 patients. Lancet Oncol 2018;19:337-346. DOI:10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30059-7
- 28. De Haan J, Lok CA, de Groot CJ, Crijns MB, Van Calsteren K, Dahl Steffensen K et al. Melanoma during pregnancy: a report of 60 pregnancies complicated by melanoma. Melanoma Res 2017;27:218-223. DOI:10.1097/CMR.000000000000327
- 29. Djokanovic N, Klieger-Grossmann C, Koren G. Does treatment with bisphosphonates endanger the human pregnancy? J Obstet Gynaecol Can 2008;30:1146-1148. DOI:10.1016/S1701-2163(16)34026-34029
- 30. Dunleavy K, McLintock C. How I treat lymphoma in pregnancy. Blood 2020;136:2118-2124. DOI:10.1182/blood.2019000961
- 31. Eibye S, Kjær SK, Mellemkjær L. Incidence of pregnancy-associated cancer in Denmark, 1977-2006. Obstet Gynecol 2013;122:608-617. DOI:10.1097/AOG.0b013e3182a057a2
- 32. Esposito S, Tenconi R, Preti V, Groppali E, Principi N. Chemotherapy against cancer during pregnancy: A systematic review on neonatal outcomes. Medicine (Baltimore) 2016;95:e4899. DOI:10.1097/MD.0000000000004899
- 33. Evans SR, Sarani B, Bhanot P, Feldman E. Surgery in pregnancy. Curr Probl Surg 2012;49:333-388. DOI:10.1067/j.cpsurg.2012.02.003
- 34. Evens AM, Advani R, Press OW, Lossos IS, Vose JM, Hernandez-Ilizaliturri FJ et al. Lymphoma occurring during pregnancy: antenatal therapy, complications, and maternal survival in a multicenter analysis. J Clin Oncol 2013;31:4132-4139. DOI:10.1200/JCO.2013.49.8220
- 35. Evens AM, Brandt JS, Peer CJ, Yin T, Schaar D, Farooq F et al. Checkpoint inhibitor immunotherapy during pregnancy for relapsed-refractory Hodgkin lymphoma. Am J Hematol 2022;97:833-838. DOI:10.1002/ajh.26527
- 36. Eyre TA, Lau IJ, Mackillop L, Collins GP. Management and controversies of classical Hodgkin lymphoma in pregnancy. Br J Haematol 2015;169:613-630. DOI:10.1111/bjh.13327
- 37. Fruscio R, de Haan J, Van Calsteren K, Verheecke M, Mhallem M, Amant F. Ovarian cancer in pregnancy. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol 2017;41:108-117. DOI:10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2016.09.013
- 38. Gentilini O, Cremonesi M, Toesca A, Colombo N, Peccatori F, Sironi R et al. Sentinel lymph node biopsy in pregnant patients with breast cancer. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2010;37:78-83. DOI:10.1007/s00259-009-1217-7
- 39. Germann N, Haie-Meder C, Morice P, Lhomme C, Duvillard P, Hacene K et al. Management and clinical outcomes of pregnant patients with invasive cervical cancer. Ann Oncol 2005;16:397-402. DOI:10.1093/annonc/mdi084
- 40. Grass F, Spindler BA, Naik ND, Thiels CA, Dozois EJ, Larson DW et al. Oncological outcome of peripartum colorectal carcinoma-a single-center experience. Int J Colorectal Dis 2019;34:899-904. DOI:10.1007/s00384-019-03278-2

- 41. Halaska MJ, Uzan C, Han SN, Fruscio R, Dahl Steffensen K, Van Calster B et al. Characteristics of patients with cervical cancer during pregnancy: a multicenter matched cohort study. An initiative from the International Network on Cancer, Infertility and Pregnancy. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2019;29:676-682. DOI:10.1136/ijgc-2018-000103
- 42. Han SN, Amant F, Cardonick EH, Loibl S, Peccatori FA, Gheysens O et al. Axillary staging for breast cancer during pregnancy: feasibility and safety of sentinel lymph node biopsy. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2018;168:551-557. DOI:10.1007/s10549-017-4611-z
- 43. Hochhaus A, Baccarani M, Silver RT, Schiffer C, Apperley JF, Cervantes F et al. European LeukemiaNet 2020 recommendations for treating chronic myeloid leukemia. Leukemia 2020;34:966-984. DOI:10.1038/s41375-020-0776-2
- 44. Horowitz NA, Henig I, Henig O, Benyamini N, Vidal L, Avivi I. Acute myeloid leukemia during pregnancy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Leuk Lymphoma 2018;59:610-616. DOI:10.1080/10428194.2017.1347651
- 45. Hyoun SC, Običan SG, Scialli AR. Teratogen update: methotrexate. Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol 2012;94:187-207. DOI:10.1002/bdra.23003
- 46. Khazzaka A, Rassy E, Sleiman Z, Boussios S, Pavlidis N. Systematic review of fetal and placental metastases among pregnant patients with cancer. Cancer Treat Rev 2022;104:102356. DOI:10.1016/j.ctrv.2022.102356
- 47. Kocián P, de Haan J, Cardonick EH, Uzan C, Lok CAR, Fruscio R et al. Management and outcome of colorectal cancer during pregnancy: report of 41 cases. Acta Chir Belg 2019;119:166-175. DOI:10.1080/00015458.2018.1493821
- 48. Lee YY, Roberts CL, Dobbins T, Stavrou E, Black K, Morris J et al. Incidence and outcomes of pregnancy-associated cancer in Australia, 1994-2008: a population-based linkage study. BJOG 2012;119:1572-1582. DOI:10.1111/j.1471-0528.2012.03475.x
- 49. Lens MB, Rosdahl I, Ahlbom A, Farahmand BY, Synnerstad I, Boeryd B et al. Effect of pregnancy on survival in women with cutaneous malignant melanoma. J Clin Oncol 2004;22:4369-4375. DOI:10.1200/JCO.2004.02.096
- 50. Levy S, Fayez I, Taguchi N, Han JY, Aiello J, Matsui D et al. Pregnancy outcome following in utero exposure to bisphosphonates. Bone 2009;44:428-430. DOI:10.1016/j.bone.2008.11.001
- 51. Lindheimer MD, Davison JM, Katz Al. The kidney and hypertension in pregnancy: twenty exciting years. Semin Nephrol 2001;21:173-189. DOI:10.1053/snep.2001.20937
- 52. Lishner M, Avivi I, Apperley JF, Dierickx D, Evens AM, Fumagalli M et al. Hematologic malignancies in pregnancy: management guidelines from an international consensus meeting. J Clin Oncol 2016;34:501-508. DOI:10.1200/JCO.2015.62.4445
- 53. Loibl S, Schmidt A, Gentilini O, Kaufman B, Kuhl C, Denkert C et al. Breast cancer diagnosed during pregnancy: adapting recent advances in breast cancer care for pregnant patients. JAMA Oncol 2015;1:1145-1153. DOI:10.1001/jamaoncol.2015.2413
- 54. Luttwak E, Gurevich-Shapiro A, Azem F, Lishner M, Klieger C, Herishanu Y et al. Novel agents for the treatment of lymphomas during pregnancy: a comprehensive literature review. Blood Rev 2021;49:100831. DOI:10.1016/j.blre.2021.100831
- 55. Maggen C, Lok CA, Cardonick E, van Gerwen M, Ottevanger PB, Boere IA et al. Gastric cancer during pregnancy: A report on 13 cases and review of the literature with focus on chemotherapy during pregnancy. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2020;99:79-88. DOI:10.1111/aogs.13731
- 56. Maggen C, Dierickx D, Cardonick E, Mhallem Gziri M, Cabrera-Garcia A, Shmakov RG et al. Maternal and neonatal outcomes in 80 patients diagnosed with non-Hodgkin lymphoma

- during pregnancy: results from the International Network of Cancer, Infertility and Pregnancy. Br J Haematol 2021;193:52-62. DOI:10.1111/bjh.17103
- 57. Miller D, Livingston JA, Park Y, Posey K, Godbole S, Skubitz K et al. Pregnancy outcomes related to the treatment of sarcomas with anthracyclines and/or ifosfamide during pregnancy. Cancer Med 2022 Mar 28. DOI:10.1002/cam4.4707
- 58. Milojkovic D, Apperley JF. How I treat leukemia during pregnancy. Blood 2014;123:974-984. DOI:10.1182/blood-2013-08-283580
- 59. Mitrou S, Petrakis D, Fotopoulos G, Zarkavelis G, Pavlidis N. Lung cancer during pregnancy: A narrative review. J Adv Res 2016;7:571-574. DOI:10.1016/j.jare.2015.12.004
- 60. Miyamoto S, Yamada M, Kasai Y, Miyauchi A, Andoh K. Anticancer drugs during pregnancy. Jpn J Clin Oncol 2016;46:795-804. DOI:10.1093/jjco/hyw073
- 61. NCCN Guideline Breast Cancer 4.2022. https://www.nccn.org/professionals/physician_gls/pdf/breast
- 62. Nobre GM, Tramontin MY, Treistman N, Alves PA Jr, Andrade FA, Bulzico DA et al. Pregnancy has no significant impact on the prognosis of differentiated thyroid cancer. Arch Endocrinol Metab 2021;65:768-777. DOI:10.20945/2359-3997000000413
- 63. Onkopedia-Leitlinie Akute Promyelozytenleukämie 2020. https://www.onkopedia.com/resolve-link?
 uid=8ce10dd5d2f745e082cd7292919bbb1d&path=onkopedia%2Fde%2Fonkopedia%2Fg
 uidelines%2Fakute-promyelozyten-leukaemieapl&document_type=guideline&language=de&guideline_topics=3&area=onkopedia
- 64. Onkopedia-Leitlinie Chronische myeloische Leukämie 2020. https://www.onkopedia.com/resolve-link?
 uid=9ce0db45fd434d3db9f464a014c5ae70&path=onkopedia%2Fde%2Fonkopedia%2Fgu idelines%2Fchronische-myeloische-leukaemie-cml&document_type=guideline&language=de&guideline_topics=11&area=onkopedia
- 65. Onkopedia-Leitlinie Diffuses großzelliges B-NHL 2021. https://www.onkopedia.com/resolve-link?
 uid=76249b78054141ce8fa2a1d3d3683976&path=onkopedia%2Fde%2Fonkopedia%2Fg
 uidelines%2Fdiffuses-grosszelliges-b-zelllymphom&document_type=guideline&language=de&guideline_topics=14&area=onkope
 dia
- 66. Parovichnikova EN, Troitskaya VV, Gavrilina OA, Sokolov AN, Kokhno AV et al. The outcome of Ph-negative acute lymphoblastic leukemia presenting during pregnancy and treated on the Russian prospective multicenter trial RALL-2009. Leuk Res 2021;104:106536. DOI:10.1016/j.leukres.2021.106536
- 67. Pellino G, Simillis C, Kontovounisios C, Baird DL, Nikolaou S, Warren O et al. Colorectal cancer diagnosed during pregnancy: systematic review and treatment pathways. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2017;29:743-753. DOI:10.1097/MEG.000000000000863
- 68. Ribero S, Longo C, Dika E, Fortes C, Pasquali S, Nagore E et al. Pregnancy and melanoma: a European-wide survey to assess current management and a critical literature overview. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2017;31:65-69. DOI:10.1111/jdv.13722
- 69. Rogers JE, Dasari A, Eng C. The treatment of colorectal cancer during pregnancy: cytotoxic chemotherapy and targeted therapy challenges. Oncologist 2016;21:563-570. DOI:10.1634/theoncologist.2015-0362
- 70. Santolaria A, Perales A, Montesinos P, Sanz MA. Acute promyelocytic leukemia during pregnancy: a systematic review of the literature. Cancers 2020;12:968. DOI:10.3390/cancers12040968

- 71. Sanz MA, Fenaux P, Tallman MS, Estey EH, Löwenberg B, Naoe T et al. Management of acute promyelocytic leukemia: updated recommendations from an expert panel of the European LeukemiaNet. Blood 2019;133:1630-1643. DOI:10.1182/blood-2019-01-894980
- 72. Stensheim H, Møller B, van Dijk T, Fosså SD. Cause-specific survival for women diagnosed with cancer during pregnancy or lactation: a registry-based cohort study. J Clin Oncol 2009;27:45-51. DOI:10.1200/JCO.2008.17.4110
- 73. Verheecke M, Halaska MJ, Lok CA, Ottevanger PB, Fruscio R, Dahl-Steffensen K et al. Primary brain tumours, meningiomas and brain metastases in pregnancy: report on 27 cases and review of literature. Eur J Cancer 2014;50:1462-1471. DOI:10.1016/j.ejca.2014.02.018
- 74. van Westrhenen A, Senders JT, Martin E, DiRisio AC, Broekman MLD. Clinical challenges of glioma and pregnancy: a systematic review. J Neurooncol 2018;139:1-11. DOI:10.1007/s11060-018-2851-3
- 75. Yang L, He YT, Kang J, Zheng MY, Chen ZH, Yan HH et al. Clinical features and intervention timing in patients with pregnancy-associated non-small-cell lung cancer. J Thorac Dis 2021;13:4125-4136. DOI:10.21037/jtd-21-234
- 76. Yust-Katz S, de Groot JF, Liu D, Wu J, Yuan Y, Anderson MD et al. Pregnancy and glial brain tumors. NeuroOncol 2014;16:1289-1294. DOI:10.1093/neuonc/nou019
- 77. Zheng X, Zhu Y, Zhao Y, Feng S, Zheng C. Taxanes in combination with platinum derivatives for the treatment of ovarian cancer during pregnancy: A literature review. Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther 2017;55:753-760. DOI:10.5414/CP202995
- 78. Zhu D, Tang D, Chai X, Zhang G, Wang Y. Acute leukemia in pregnancy: a single institutional experience with 21 cases at 10 years and a review of the literature. Ann Med 2021;53:567-575. DOI:10.1080/07853890.2021

15 Authors' Affiliations

Prof. Dr. med. Georg Maschmeyer

Deutsche Gesellschaft für Hämatologie und Medizinische Onkologie (DGHO) Onkopedia-Koordinator Bauhofstr. 12 10117 Berlin maschmeyer@dgho.de

Prof. Dr. Ralf Dittrich

Universitätsklinikum Erlangen Frauenklinik Universitätsstraße 21/23 91054 Erlangen Ralf.Dittrich@uk-erlangen.de

Prof. Dr. Tanja Fehm

Universitätsklinikum Düsseldorf Frauenklinik Moorenstr. 5 40225 Düsseldorf Tanja.Fehm@med.uni-duesseldorf.de

apl. Prof. Dr. med. Inken Hilgendorf

Universitätsklinikum Jena KIM II Abt. für Hämatologie und Internistische Onkologie Am Klinikum 1 07747 Jena inken.hilgendorf@med.uni-jena.de

Prof. Dr. med. Sibylle Loibl

German Breast Group und J. W. Goethe Universität Frankfurt/Main GBG Forschungs GmbH Martin Behaim Strasse 12 63263 Neu-Isenburg Sibylle.Loibl@gbg.de

16 Disclosure of Potential Conflicts of Interest

according to the rules of the responsible Medical Societies.